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Washington, DC 20549

FORM 10-Q
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☒    Quarterly Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15 (d) of the
        Securities Exchange Act of 1934
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or
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        Securities Exchange Act of 1934
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(561) 438-4800
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for
the past 90 days.    Yes  ☒    No  ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
registrant was required to submit and post such files).    Yes  ☒    No  ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the
definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.:
 

Large accelerated filer           ☒   Accelerated filer  ☐
Non-accelerated filer    ☐   Smaller reporting company         ☐
(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)    

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).    Yes  ☐    No  ☒
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements.

OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 

   

September 29,
2012    

December 31,
2011    

September 24,
2011  

Assets       
Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents     $ 619,532      $ 570,681       $ 452,652   
Receivables, net    833,895      862,831      918,580   
Inventories, net    1,004,925      1,146,974      1,124,013   
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    141,146      163,646      165,620   

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total current assets    2,599,498      2,744,132      2,660,865   
Property and equipment, net    871,153      1,067,040      1,081,905   
Goodwill    63,983      61,899      61,608   
Other intangible assets    17,272      35,223      36,752   
Deferred income taxes, net    39,923      47,791      37,913   
Other assets    358,021      294,899      291,448   

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total assets     $    3,949,850       $ 4,250,984       $    4,170,491   
    

 

    

 

    

 

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity       
Current liabilities:       

Trade accounts payable     $ 867,249       $ 993,636       $ 877,090   
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities    960,113      1,010,011      1,039,776   
Income taxes payable    7,088      7,389      4,052   
Short-term borrowings and current maturities of long-term debt    185,075      36,401      35,253   

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total current liabilities    2,019,525      2,047,437      1,956,171   
Deferred income taxes and other long-term liabilities    380,852      452,313      464,586   
Long-term debt, net of current maturities    486,039      648,313      647,674   

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total liabilities    2,886,416      3,148,063      3,068,431   
    

 
    

 
    

 

Commitments and contingencies       
Redeemable preferred stock, net (liquidation preference – $406,773 in September 2012,

$377,729 in December 2011, and $368,516 in September 2011)    386,401      363,636      355,979   
    

 
    

 
    

 

Stockholders’ equity:       
Office Depot, Inc. stockholders’ equity:       

Common stock – authorized 800,000,000 shares of $.01 par value; issued shares –
291,146,086 in September 2012, 286,430,567 in December 2011 and 286,382,961 in
September 2011    2,911      2,864      2,864   

Additional paid-in capital    1,126,787      1,138,542      1,143,938   
Accumulated other comprehensive income    213,892      194,522      216,273   
Accumulated deficit    (608,919)     (539,124)     (559,474)  
Treasury stock, at cost – 5,915,268 shares in September 2012 and December and

September 2011    (57,733)     (57,733)     (57,733)  
    

 
    

 
    

 

Total Office Depot, Inc. stockholders’ equity    676,938      739,071      745,868   
Noncontrolling interests    95      214      213   

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total equity    677,033      739,285      746,081   
    

 
    

 
    

 

Total liabilities and equity     $    3,949,850       $    4,250,984       $    4,170,491   
    

 

    

 

    

 

This report should be read in conjunction with the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements herein and the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements in the Office Depot, Inc. Form 10-K filed February 28, 2012 (the “2011 Form 10-K”).
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OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 
   13 Weeks Ended    39 Weeks Ended  

   

September 29,
2012    

September 24,
2011    

September 29,
2012    

September 24,
2011  

Sales     $    2,692,933       $    2,836,737       $     8,072,892      $    8,519,838   
Cost of goods sold and occupancy costs    1,858,209      1,981,717      5,608,930     5,992,578   

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Gross profit    834,724      855,020      2,463,962      2,527,260   

Store and warehouse operating and selling expenses    636,761      668,093      1,928,308      2,007,973   
Recovery of purchase price    —      —      (68,314)     —   
Asset impairment    87,998      4,528      129,753      5,197   
General and administrative expenses    165,065      163,282      510,272      492,608   

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Operating profit (loss)    (55,100)     19,117      (36,057)     21,482   

Other income (expense):         
Interest income    482      317      1,804      1,158   
Interest expense    (16,947)     17,306      (49,128)     (19,512)  
Loss on extinguishment of debt    —      —      (12,110)     —   
Miscellaneous income, net    13,073      5,536      26,019      19,869   

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Earnings (loss) before income taxes    (58,492)     42,276      (69,472)     22,997   

Income tax expense (benefit)    3,433      (58,573)     341      (52,346)  
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Net earnings (loss)    (61,925)     100,849      (69,813)     75,343   

Less: Net loss attributable to the noncontrolling interests    (9)     (23)     (18)     (1)  
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Net earnings (loss) attributable to Office Depot, Inc.    (61,916)     100,872      (69,795)     75,344   
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Preferred stock dividends    7,650      9,213      22,765      27,639   
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Net earnings (loss) available to common stockholders     $ (69,566)      $ 91,659       $ (92,560)      $ 47,705   
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Net earnings (loss) per share:         
Basic     $ (0.25)      $ 0.29       $ (0.33)      $ 0.17   
Diluted     $ (0.25)     0.28       $ (0.33)     0.17   

This report should be read in conjunction with the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements herein and the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements in the 2011 Form 10-K.
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OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 
   13 Weeks Ended    39 Weeks Ended  

   

September 29,
2012    

September 24,
2011    

September 29,
2012    

September 24,
2011  

Net earnings (loss)     $     (61,925)      $     100,849       $     (69,813)      $     75,343   
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax where applicable:         

Foreign currency translation adjustments    19,250      (50,455)     22,502      (7,176)  
Amortization of gain on cash flow hedge    (155)     (415)     (2,152)     (1,244)  
Change in deferred pension    (35)     (179)     (312)     2   
Change in deferred cash flow hedge    12      581      (669)     898   

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, where
applicable    19,072      (50,468)     19,369      (7,520)  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Comprehensive income (loss)    (42,853)     50,381      (50,444)     67,823   
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to the noncontrolling

interests    (5)     (41)     (12)     13   
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Office Depot, Inc.   $ (42,848)    $ 50,422     $ (50,432)    $ 67,810   
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

This report should be read in conjunction with the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements herein and the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements in the 2011 Form 10-K.
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OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 
   39 Weeks Ended  

   

September 29,
2012    

September 24,
2011  

Cash flows from operating activities:     
Net earnings (loss)     $ (69,813)      $ 75,343   
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:     

Depreciation and amortization    151,074      157,761   
Charges for losses on inventories and receivables    48,814      42,834   
Loss on extinguishment of debt    13,377      —   
Recovery of purchase price    (58,049)     —   
Pension plan funding    (58,030)     —   
Asset impairment    129,753      5,197   
Changes in working capital and other    (73,033)     (261,142)  

    
 

    
 

Net cash provided by operating activities    84,093      19,993   
    

 
    

 

Cash flows from investing activities:     
Capital expenditures    (88,716)     (89,143)  
Acquisition, net of cash acquired    —      (72,667)  
Recovery of purchase price    49,841      —   
Release of restricted cash    8,570      46,509   
Proceeds from assets sold and other    31,373      7,891   

    
 

    
 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities    1,068      (107,410)  
    

 
    

 

Cash flows from financing activities:     
Proceeds from exercise of stock options    1,379      784   
Share transactions under employee related plans    (218)     (695)  
Preferred stock dividends    —      (27,639)  
Payment for noncontrolling interests    (551)     (1,262)  
Loss on extinguishment of debt    (13,377)     —   
Debt related fees    (8,012)     (9,945)  
Debt retirement    (250,000)     —   
Debt issuance    250,000      —   
Net payments on other long- and short-term borrowings    (17,881)     (58,583)  

    
 

    
 

Net cash used in financing activities    (38,660)     (97,340)  
    

 
    

 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    2,350      9,931   
    

 
    

 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    48,851      (174,826)  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    570,681      627,478   

    
 

    
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period     $ 619,532       $ 452,652   
    

 

    

 

This report should be read in conjunction with the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements herein and the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements in the 2011 Form 10-K.
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OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

Note A – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation: Office Depot, Inc., including consolidated subsidiaries (“Office Depot”), is a global supplier of office products and services. Fiscal years
are based on a 52- or 53-week period ending on the last Saturday in December. Fiscal year 2011 was a 53-week year. The Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet
at December 31, 2011 has been derived from audited financial statements at that date. The condensed consolidated interim financial statements as of
September 29, 2012 and September 24, 2011, and for the 13-week and 39-week periods ended September 29, 2012 (also referred to as “the third quarter of 2012”
and the “year-to-date 2012”) and September 24, 2011 (also referred to as “the third quarter of 2011” and the “year-to-date 2011”) are unaudited. However, in our
opinion, these financial statements reflect all adjustments of a normal recurring nature necessary to provide a fair presentation of our financial position, results of
operations and cash flows for the periods presented. Prior period amounts in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flow for 2011 have been reclassified to correspond to the 2012 disclosure of asset impairments. We have included the balance sheet from
September 24, 2011 to assist in analyzing our company.

These interim results are not necessarily indicative of the results that should be expected for the full year. For a better understanding of Office Depot and its
condensed consolidated financial statements, we recommend reading these condensed interim financial statements in conjunction with the audited financial
statements which are included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011, filed on February 28, 2012 with the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”).

Cash Management: Our cash management process generally utilizes zero balance accounts which provide for the settlement of the related disbursement accounts
and cash concentration on a daily basis. Accounts payable and accrued expenses as of September 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and September 24, 2011 included
$40 million, $50 million and $45 million, respectively, of amounts not yet presented for payment drawn in excess of disbursement account book balances, after
considering offset provisions. We may borrow to meet working capital and other needs throughout any given quarter, which may result in higher levels of
borrowings and invested cash within the period. At the end of the quarter, excess cash may be used to minimize borrowings outstanding at the balance sheet date.
Approximately $149 million of cash and cash equivalents was held outside the U.S. at September 29, 2012.

New Accounting Pronouncements: There are no recently issued accounting standards that are expected to have a material effect on our financial condition,
results of operations or cash flows.

Note B – Debt

On February 24, 2012, the company entered into an amendment (the “Amendment”) to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the “Amended Credit
Agreement”). The Amendment provides the company flexibility with regard to certain restrictive covenants in any possible refinancing and other transactions. In
addition, the Amendment released one of the company’s subsidiaries from its guarantee obligations under the Amended Credit Agreement.

On March 14, 2012, the company issued $250 million aggregate principal amount of its 9.75% senior secured notes due March 15, 2019 (the “Notes”) with
interest payable in cash semiannually in arrears on March 15 and September 15 of each year. The Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a senior
secured basis by each of the company’s existing and future domestic subsidiaries that guarantee the Amended Credit Agreement. The Notes are secured on a first-
priority basis by a lien on substantially all of the company’s domestic subsidiaries’ present and future assets, other than assets that secure the Amended Credit
Agreement and certain of their present and future equity interests in foreign subsidiaries. The Notes are secured on a second-priority basis by a lien on the
company and its domestic subsidiaries’ assets that secure the Amended Credit Agreement. The Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture, dated as of March 14,
2012, among the company, the domestic subsidiaries named therein and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Indenture”). Approximately $7 million
of debt issuance costs were capitalized associated with these Notes and will be amortized through 2019.
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OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited) – (Continued)
 
The terms of the Indenture provide that, among other things, the Notes and guarantees will be senior secured obligations and will: (i) rank senior in right of
payment to any future subordinated indebtedness of the company and the guarantors; (ii) rank equally in right of payment with all of the existing and future senior
indebtedness of the company and the guarantors; (iii) rank effectively junior to all existing and future indebtedness under the Amended Credit Agreement to the
extent of the value of certain collateral securing the Amended Credit Agreement on a first-priority basis, subject to certain exceptions and permitted liens;
(iv) rank effectively senior to all existing and future indebtedness under the Amended Credit Agreement to the extent of the value of certain collateral securing the
Notes; and (v) be structurally subordinated in right of payment to all existing and future indebtedness and other liabilities of the company’s non-guarantor
subsidiaries (other than indebtedness and liabilities owed to the company or one of the guarantors).

The Indenture contains affirmative and negative covenants that, among other things, limit or restrict the company’s ability to: incur additional debt or issue stock,
pay dividends, make certain investments or make other restricted payments; engage in sales of assets; and engage in consolidations, mergers and acquisitions.
However, many of these covenants will cease to apply for so long as the company receives and maintains investment grade ratings from specified debt rating
services and there is no default under the Indenture. There are no maintenance financial covenants.

The Notes may be redeemed by the company, in whole or in part, at any time prior to March 15, 2016 at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount plus a
make-whole premium as of the redemption date and accrued and unpaid interest. Thereafter, the Notes carry optional redemption features whereby the company
has the option to redeem the Notes prior to maturity at par plus a premium beginning at 104.875% at March 15, 2016 and declining ratably to par at March 15,
2018 and thereafter, plus accrued and unpaid interest. Should the company sell its ownership in Office Depot de Mexico, S.A., it would be required to offer to
repurchase an aggregate amount of Notes at least equal to 60% of the net proceeds from such sale at 100% of par plus accrued and unpaid interest.

Additionally, on or prior to March 15, 2015, the company may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes with the net cash proceeds from
certain equity offerings at a redemption price equal to 109.750% of the principal amount of the Notes redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest to the
redemption date; and, upon the occurrence of a change of control, holders of the Notes may require the company to repurchase all or a portion of the Notes in
cash at a price equal to 101% of the principal amount of the Notes to be repurchased plus accrued and unpaid interest to the repurchase date. Change of control, as
defined in the Indenture, is a transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of Office Depot, acquisition of more than 50% of the voting power of Office Depot by
a person or group, or members of the Office Depot board of directors as previously approved by the stockholders of Office Depot ceasing to constitute a majority
of the Office Depot board of directors.

On March 15, 2012, the company repurchased $250 million aggregate principal amount of its outstanding 6.25% senior notes under its previously announced
cash tender offer. The total consideration for each $1,000.00 note surrendered was $1,050.00. Additionally, tender fees and a proportionate amount of deferred
debt issue costs and a deferred cash flow hedge gain were included in the measurement of the $12.1 million extinguishment costs reported in the Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year-to-date 2012. The cash amounts of the premium paid and tender fees are reflected as financing activities in the
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Accrued interest was paid through the extinguishment date.

The remaining $150 million outstanding 6.25% senior notes is due in August 2013 and is classified as a current liability in the Condensed Consolidated Balance
Sheet as of September 29, 2012.
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OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited) – (Continued)
 
Note C – Recovery of Purchase Price from Previous Acquisition

The sale and purchase agreement (“SPA”) associated with a 2003 European acquisition included a provision whereby the seller was required to pay an amount to
the company if a specified acquired pension plan was determined to be underfunded based on 2008 plan data. The unfunded obligation amount calculated by the
plan’s actuary based on that data was disputed by the seller. In accordance with the SPA, the parties entered into arbitration to resolve this matter and, in March
2011, the arbitrator found in favor of the company. The seller pursued an annulment of the award in French court. In November 2011, the seller paid GBP
5.5 million ($8.8 million, measured at then-current exchange rates) to the company to allow for future monthly payments to the pension plan, pending a court
ruling on their cancellation request. That money was placed in an escrow account with the pension plan acting as trustee. On January 6, 2012, the company and
the seller entered into a settlement agreement that settled all claims by either party for this and any other matter under the original SPA. The seller paid an
additional GBP 32.2 million (approximately $50 million, measured at then-current exchange rates) to the company in February 2012. Following this cash receipt
in February 2012, the company contributed the GBP 37.7 million (approximately $58 million at then-current exchange rates) to the pension plan, resulting in the
plan changing from an unfunded liability position of approximately $49.6 million at December 31, 2011 to a net asset position at September 29, 2012 of
approximately $10.1 million. See additional pension disclosures in Note H.

This pension provision of the SPA was disclosed in 2003 and subsequent periods as a matter that would reduce goodwill when the plan was remeasured and cash
received. However, all goodwill associated with this transaction was impaired in 2008, and because the remeasurement process had not yet begun, no estimate of
the potential payment to the company could be made at that time. Consistent with disclosures subsequent to the 2008 goodwill impairment, resolution of this
matter in the first quarter of 2012 was reflected as a credit to operating expense. The cash received from the seller, reversal of an accrued liability as a result of the
settlement agreement, fees incurred in 2012, and fee reimbursement from the seller have been reported in Recovery of purchase price in the Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year-to-date 2012, totaling $68.3 million. An additional expense of $5.2 million of costs incurred in prior periods
related to this arrangement is included in General and administrative expenses, resulting in a net increase in operating profit for the year-to-date 2012 of $63.1
million. Similar to the presentation of goodwill impairment in 2008, this recovery and related charge is reported at the corporate level, not part of International
Division operating profit.

The cash payment from the seller was received by a subsidiary of the company with the Euro as its functional currency and the pension plan funding was made by
a subsidiary with Pound Sterling as its functional currency, resulting in certain translation differences between amounts reflected in the Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Operations and the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the year-to-date 2012. The receipt of cash from the seller is presented as
a source of cash in investing activities. The contribution of cash to the pension plan is presented as a use of cash in operating activities.

Note D – Exit Costs and Other Charges

In recent years, the company has been adversely affected by increasingly competitive conditions and a downturn in global economies and has taken actions
including closing facilities, consolidating functional activities and disposing of assets. Exit cost accruals related to prior and current actions are as follows:
 

(In millions)   

Balance at
December 31,

2011    

Charges
Incurred   

Cash
Payments   

Non-Cash
Settlements

and
Accretion    

Currency
and Other

Adjustments   

Balance at
September 29,

2012  

Termination benefits       $ 12        $ 21        $ (26)         $ —        $ 1        $ 8  
Lease, contract obligations and, other costs    95     18     (37)      4     —     80  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total       $ 107        $ 39        $ (63)         $ 4        $ 1        $ 88  
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OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited) – (Continued)
 
Exit cost charges incurred during the year-to-date 2012 totaled approximately $39 million. Of this amount, approximately $16 million is included in Store and
warehouse operating and selling expenses and approximately $23 million is included in General and administrative expenses in the Condensed Consolidated
Statement of Operations.

In addition to accruals for facilities closed as part of these activities, the company maintains accruals for facilities closed that are considered part of ongoing
operating activities. During the year-to-date 2012, approximately $4 million was charged against earnings for additional closure costs and accretion and
approximately $6 million of cash was paid on these locations. The accrued balance was approximately $10 million at September 29, 2012 and $12 million at
December 31, 2011.

Note E – Stockholders’ Equity

The following table reflects the changes in stockholders’ equity attributable to both Office Depot, Inc. and our noncontrolling subsidiary interests.
 

(In thousands)   

Attributable to
Office Depot,

Inc.    

Attributable
to

Noncontrolling
Interests    Total  

Stockholders’ equity at December 31, 2011     $ 739,071       $ 214       $    739,285   
Comprehensive loss:       

Net loss    (69,795)     (18)     (69,813)  
Other comprehensive income    19,363      6      19,369   

    
 

    
 

    
 

Comprehensive loss    (50,432)     (12)     (50,444)  
Preferred stock dividends    (22,765)     —      (22,765)  
Share transactions under employee related plans    1,128      —      1,128   
Purchase of subsidiary shares from noncontrolling interests    (444)     (107)     (551)  
Amortization of long-term incentive stock grants    10,380      —      10,380   

    
 

    
 

    
 

Stockholders’ equity at September 29, 2012     $ 676,938       $ 95       $ 677,033   
    

 

    

 

    

 

Stockholders’ equity at December 25, 2010     $ 695,496       $ 479       $ 695,975   
Comprehensive income:       

Net earnings (loss)    75,344      (1)     75,343   
Other comprehensive income (loss)    (7,534)     14      (7,520)  

    
 

    
 

    
 

Comprehensive income    67,810      13      67,823   
    

 
    

 
    

 

Purchase of subsidiary shares from noncontrolling interests    (983)     (279)     (1,262)  
Preferred stock dividends    (27,639)     —      (27,639)  
Share transactions under employee related plans    63      —      63   
Amortization of long-term incentive stock grants    11,121      —      11,121   

    
 

    
 

    
 

Stockholders’ equity at September 24, 2011     $ 745,868       $ 213       $ 746,081   
    

 

    

 

    

 

Because of valuation allowances in multiple jurisdictions, the tax impact on elements of other comprehensive income is insignificant.
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OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited) – (Continued)
 
Note F – Earnings Per Share

The following table represents the calculation of net loss per common share:
 
   Third Quarter    Year-to-Date  
(In thousands, except per share amounts)   2012    2011    2012    2011  

Basic Earnings Per Share         
Numerator:         
Net earnings (loss) available to common shareholders     $  (69,566)      $  91,659       $  (92,560)      $  47,705   
Assumed distribution to participating securities    —      (11,892)     —      —   

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Assumed undistributed earnings available to common stock    (69,566)     79,767      (92,560)     47,705   

Denominator:         
Weighted-average shares outstanding    280,238      278,559      279,438      277,627   

Basic earnings (loss) per share     $ (0.25)      $ 0.29       $ (0.33)      $ 0.17   
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Diluted Earnings Per Share         
Numerator:         

Net earnings (loss) attributable to Office Depot, Inc.     $ (61,916)      $100,872       $ (69,795)      $ 75,344   

Denominator:         
Weighted-average shares outstanding    280,238      278,559      279,438      277,627   
Effect of dilutive securities:         

Stock options and restricted stock    3,480      4,774      4,186      5,583   
Redeemable preferred stock    79,371      73,703      77,450      73,703   

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding    363,089      357,036      361,074      356,913   

Diluted earnings (loss) per share    N/A     $ 0.28      N/A      N/A   
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Basic earnings (loss) per share (“EPS”) is computed after consideration of preferred stock dividends. Shares of the redeemable preferred stock have equal
dividend participation rights with common stock. The company has never paid a dividend on common stock, but the participation provisions require application
of the two-class method for computing earnings per share. In periods of sufficient earnings, this method assumes an allocation of undistributed earnings to both
participating stock classes. The two-class method impacted the computation of earnings for the first quarter of 2012, but was not applicable to the third quarter or
year-to-date 2012 because it would have been antidilutive. For the third quarter of 2011, Basic EPS for common shares is $0.29, all undistributed. Basic EPS for
the redeemable preferred shares is also $0.29, composed of $0.13 distributed and $0.16 undistributed. The two-class method of calculating EPS is antidilutive for
year-to-date 2011. The preferred shareholders are not required to fund losses.
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The diluted EPS calculation under the two-class method includes two tests to determine the most dilutive. These tests, and the diluted EPS calculation which
includes the dilutive impact of stock options and restricted stock under the treasury stock method and redeemable preferred stock under the if-converted method,
result in diluted EPS for the third quarter of 2011 of $0.28. The diluted EPS calculation for the other periods presented was antidilutive. The share amounts for
that period have been presented for informational purposes.

Awards of options and nonvested shares representing approximately 17.5 million and 15.6 million additional shares of common stock were outstanding for the
third quarter and year-to-date 2012, respectively, and 16.0 million and 12.4 million for the third quarter and year-to-date 2011, respectively, but were not included
in the computation of diluted weighted-average shares outstanding because their effect would have been antidilutive. For purposes of calculating weighted
average shares, no tax benefits have been assumed in jurisdictions where deferred tax valuation allowances have been recorded.

Note G – Division Information

Office Depot operates in three segments: North American Retail Division, North American Business Solutions Division, and International Division. The
following is a summary of our significant accounts and balances by segment (or “Division”), reconciled to consolidated totals.
 
   Sales  

   Third Quarter    Year-to-Date  
(In thousands)   2012    2011    2012    2011  

North American Retail Division     $    1,173,653       $    1,232,692       $    3,387,087       $    3,633,384   
North American Business Solutions Division    827,414      820,864      2,451,549      2,430,431   
International Division    691,866      783,181      2,234,256      2,456,023   

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total     $ 2,692,933       $ 2,836,737       $ 8,072,892       $ 8,519,838   
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

   Division Operating Profit (Loss)  

   Third Quarter    Year-to-Date  
(In thousands)   2012    2011    2012    2011  

North American Retail Division     $ (21,252)      $ 41,904       $ 1,539       $ 102,363   
North American Business Solutions Division    54,810      39,145      137,797      100,370   
International Division    1,052      19,460      25,959      59,862   

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total     $ 34,610       $ 100,509       $ 165,295       $ 262,595   
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

A reconciliation of the measure of Division operating profit to consolidated earnings (loss) before income taxes is as follows:   

   Third Quarter    Year-to-Date  
(In thousands)   2012    2011    2012    2011  

Total Division operating profit     $ 34,610       $ 100,509       $ 165,295       $ 262,595   
Add/(subtract):         
Recovery of purchase price    —      —      68,314      —   
Unallocated charges    (1,584)     (2,602)     (15,682)     (7,205)  
Unallocated operating expenses    (88,126)     (78,790)     (253,984)     (233,908)  
Interest income    482      317      1,804      1,158   
Interest expense    (16,947)     17,306      (49,128)     (19,512)  
Loss on extinguishment of debt    —      —      (12,110)     —   
Miscellaneous income, net    13,073      5,536      26,019      19,869   

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Earnings (loss) before income taxes     $ (58,492)      $ 42,276       $ (69,472)      $ 22,997   
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The gross amount of goodwill and the amount of accumulated impairment losses as of September 29, 2012 are provided in the following table:
 

(In thousands)   

North
American

Retail
Division    

North
American
Business
Solutions
Division    

International
Division    Total  

Goodwill     $ 1,842       $ 367,790       $ 905,602       $ 1,275,234   
Accumulated impairment losses    (1,842)     (348,359)     (863,134)     (1,213,335)  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Balance as of December 31, 2011    —      19,431      42,468      61,899   
2012 Changes:         
Goodwill    1,842      367,790      905,602      1,275,234   
Accumulated impairment losses    (1,842)     (348,359)     (863,134)     (1,213,335)  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

   —      19,431      42,468      61,899   
Foreign currency exchange rate changes    —      —      2,084      2,084   

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Balance as of September 29, 2012     $ —       $ 19,431       $ 44,552       $ 63,983   
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

The company’s accounting policy is to test for goodwill impairment during the fourth quarter each year but, should events occur or circumstances change, that
more likely than not would reduce a reporting unit’s fair value below its carrying value, that test would be accelerated. Based on consideration of relevant
accounting guidance, the composition of assets within the related reporting units, current facts and circumstances, including results of operations, intangible assets
impairment in Europe and other market conditions, we concluded that a test of goodwill was not required as of September 29, 2012.

Note H – Employee Benefit Plans

Pension Disclosures

The components of net periodic pension cost (benefit) for our foreign pension plan are as follows:
 
   Third Quarter    Year-to-Date  
(In millions)   2012    2011    2012    2011  

Service cost     $   —       $   —       $   —       $   —   
Interest cost    2.5      2.5      7.2      7.4   
Expected return on plan assets    (3.1)     (2.4)     (8.6)     (7.1)  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Net periodic pension cost (benefit)     $  (0.6)      $  0.1       $  (1.4)      $  0.3   
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Following the significant contribution to the plan in February 2012, as discussed in Note C, the company remeasured the 2012 estimated net periodic pension cost
(benefit). No other assumptions in the pension calculation or target allocation of assets changed significantly from the pension valuation performed at
December 31, 2011. The change in estimated earnings on plan assets will result in a net periodic pension benefit for the balance of the year. The funding during
the quarter ended March 31, 2012 resulted in the pension plan changing from an unfunded liability position of approximately $49.6 million at December 31, 2011
to a net asset position at September 29, 2012 of approximately $10.1 million. There are no additional funding requirements while the plan is in a surplus position.
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Note I – Income Taxes

The effective tax rate for the third quarter and year-to-date 2012 was -6% and 0%, respectively, compared to -139% and -228%, respectively, for the same periods
of 2011. The effective tax rate for the third quarter of 2012 reflects the absence of tax benefits in jurisdictions with valuation allowances, such as the U.S., where
much of the asset impairment charges were recognized. The year-to-date 2012 rate includes a $16 million accrued benefit based on a ruling from the U.S. Internal
Revenue Service (“IRS”) allowing the company to carryback certain accounting method changes to the 2009 tax year. Receipt of cash related to this ruling is not
expected prior to resolution of the previously-disclosed dispute with the IRS relating to a foreign royalty assessment as discussed below. The year-to-date 2012
effective tax rate also includes this benefit and is impacted by the Recovery of purchase price that is treated as a purchase price adjustment for tax purposes. As
discussed in Note C, this recovery would have been a reduction of related goodwill for financial reporting purposes, but the related goodwill was impaired in
2008. Additionally, the loss on extinguishment of debt in the United States during the quarter ended March 31, 2012 did not generate financial statement tax
benefits because of existing valuation allowances. Similarly, operating losses in other jurisdictions with valuation allowances do not result in deferred tax benefits
being recognized in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. Accordingly, tax expense recognized in jurisdictions with positive earnings, and no
tax benefit on certain jurisdictions with losses, can cause the effective rate to be different from blended statutory rates. This interim accounting is likely to result
in significant variability of the effective tax rate throughout the course of the year. Changes in income projections and the mix of income across jurisdictions
could impact the effective tax rate each quarter.

The 2011 effective tax rates include the reversal of $66 million of uncertain tax accruals (“UTPs”) following closure of certain tax audits and the expiration of the
statute of limitations on previously open tax years. The aggregate settlement of UTPs in the third quarter of 2011 resulted in a reversal of previously accrued
interest expense of $32 million in 2011. Our accounting policy is to include accrued interest on UTPs, and any related reversals, as a component of Interest
expense in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations. The reversal in 2011 resulted in interest expense for the third quarter of 2011 being negative.

We file a U.S. federal income tax return and other income tax returns in various states and foreign jurisdictions. With few exceptions, we are no longer subject to
U.S. federal, state and local income tax examinations for years before 2009. Our U.S. federal filings for 2009, 2010 and 2011 are under routine examination, and
it is reasonably possible that audits for some of these periods will be closed prior to the end of 2012. Significant international tax jurisdictions include the UK, the
Netherlands, France and Germany. Generally, we are subject to routine examination for years 2006 and forward in these jurisdictions. It is reasonably possible
that certain of these audits will close within the next 12 months, which could result in a decrease of as much as $2.1 million or an increase of as much as $1.0
million to our accrued uncertain tax positions. Additionally, we anticipate that it is reasonably possible that new issues will be raised or resolved by tax authorities
that may require changes to the balance of unrecognized tax benefits, however, an estimate of such changes cannot reasonably be made.

As part of the ongoing 2009 and 2010 audits, the IRS has proposed a deemed royalty assessment from our foreign operations with a tax and penalty amount of
approximately $126 million. The company disagrees with this assessment and, based on the technical merits of this issue, believes that no accrual is required at
this time. The company is working with its outside tax advisors and the IRS to resolve this dispute in a timely manner. To the extent the IRS prevails on this issue,
the income statement impact may be lowered because of available net operating losses and other deferred tax assets.
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Note J – Fair Value Measurements

The company measures fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. In developing its fair value estimates, the company uses the following hierarchy:
 
Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: Observable market based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data.
Level 3: Significant unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data. Generally, these fair value measures are model-based valuation

techniques such as discounted cash flows or option pricing models using our own estimates and assumptions or those expected to be used by
market participants.

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, accounts payable and accrued expenses and other current liabilities approximate their carrying values
because of their short-term nature.

The fair values of our interest rate swaps, foreign currency contracts and fuel contracts are the amounts receivable or payable to terminate the agreements at the
reporting date, taking into account current interest rates, exchange rates and commodity prices. The values are based on market-based inputs or unobservable
inputs that are corroborated by market data. There were no interest rate swap agreements in place at the end of the third quarter of 2012 and the amounts
receivable or payable under foreign currency and fuel contracts were not significant. See Note K for additional information on our derivative instruments and
hedging activities.

The following table summarizes the company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
 
(In thousands)   Fair Value Measurement Category Level 2  

   

September 29,
2012    

December 31,
2011    

September 24,
2011  

Assets       
Commodity contracts – fuel   $ 79       $ —        $   725   
Foreign exchange contracts    67      341      952   

Liabilities:       
Commodity contracts – fuel    —      251      —   
Foreign exchange contracts     $   430       $ 92     $ 38   

The company records its senior notes payable at par value, adjusted for amortization of a fair value hedge which was cancelled in 2005. The fair value of the
senior notes and the senior secured notes are considered Level 2 fair value measurements and are based on market trades of these securities on or about the dates
below.
 
   September 29, 2012    December 31, 2011    September 24, 2011  
(In thousands)

  

Carrying
Value    

Fair
Value    

Carrying
Value    

Fair
Value    

Carrying
Value    

Fair
Value  

6.25% senior notes   $  149,953     $  149,984     $  399,953     $  381,067     $  399,998     $  388,000   
9.75% senior secured notes   $  250,000     $ 255,938     $ —     $ —     $ —      $ —   
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Fair Value Estimates Used in Impairment Analyses

North American Retail Division

During 2012, the company announced it would be conducting a complete review of its North American Retail Division real estate strategy. That review was
completed in the third quarter of 2012 and approved by the company’s board of directors. The retail strategy, which involves the review of each location in the
current store portfolio to downsize to either small or mid-size format, relocate, remodel, or close at the end of the base lease term, and continued store
performance served as a basis for the company’s quarterly asset impairment review. The quarterly impairment analysis uses input from retail store operations and
the company’s accounting and finance personnel that organizationally report to the chief financial officer to assess the performance of retail stores quarterly
against historical patterns and projections of future profitability for evidence of possible asset impairment. For the retail business, these projections are based on
management’s estimates of store-level sales, gross margins, direct expenses, exercise of future lease renewal options, where applicable, and resulting cash flows
and, by their nature, include judgments about how current initiatives will impact future performance. If the anticipated cash flows of a store cannot support the
carrying value of its assets, the assets are impaired and written down to estimated fair value using Level 3 inputs. Most store locations in the U.S. are accounted
for as operating leases with a term at lease inception of a base non-cancellable period, generally ten years, and one or more renewal options.

The retail strategy provides a plan to downsize approximately 245 locations to small-format stores at the end of their lease term over the next three years and an
additional 150 locations over the following two years. Approximately 70 locations will be downsized or relocated to the mid-sized format over the next three
years and another 20 over the following two years. The company anticipates closing approximately 60 stores as their base lease period ends. The remaining stores
in the portfolio are anticipated to remain as configured, be remodeled or have base lease periods more than five years in the future. Future market conditions
could impact any of these decisions used in this analysis. This retail strategy includes capital expenditures of approximately $60 million per year for the next five
years.

Approximately 36% of the store leases will be at the optional renewal period within the next three years and 57% within the next five years. The individual cash
flow time horizon for stores expected to be closed, relocated or downsized has been reduced to the base lease period, eliminating renewal option periods from the
calculation, where applicable. Additionally, projected sales trends included in the impairment calculation model in prior periods have been reduced. The quarterly
impairment analyses in recent periods have contemplated short-term negative sales trends, a period of no growth, turning positive in the second and later years.
However, the actual quarterly results have declined more than included in the model and we have recognized asset impairment charges each quarter since the third
quarter of 2011, even though we continued to lower our projected sales trends for these tests. Each period reflected the company’s best estimate at the time. The
current outlook on comparable store sales is a decline of 4% in the first year, consistent with our second and third quarter 2012 results. The projected sales
continue to be negative for the second year, but are on an improving trend. Gross margin assumptions have been held constant at our current actual levels and we
have assumed operating costs consistent with recent actual results and planned activities. We have lowered our residual value estimate based on the experience
from recent closures and estimates from liquidators. The resulting asset impairment charge of $73 million has been recorded in the North American Retail
Division results for the third quarter of 2012. Year-to-date 2012 asset impairment charges for the Division totaled $115 million.

The third quarter 2012 charge relates to 360 store locations. Of these store locations, approximately 230 were reduced to estimated salvage value of $7 million
and assets for the remaining 130 locations were reduced to estimated fair value of $39 million based on their projected cash flows, discounted at 13%. For
locations subject to the real estate strategy, any remaining value after asset impairment charges will be depreciated over the remaining base lease period for the
locations. These locations are particularly sensitive to changes in projected cash flows over the forecast period and additional impairment is possible in future
periods if results are below projections. A 100 basis point decrease in sales used in these estimates would have increased impairment by approximately $4.1
million. Independent of the sensitivity on sales assumptions, a 50 basis point decrease in gross margin would have increased the impairment by approximately
$6.3 million. The interrelationship of having both of those inputs change as indicated would have resulted in impairment approximately $0.5 million less than the
sum of the two individual inputs.
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The company will continue to evaluate initiatives to improve performance and lower operating costs. To the extent that forward-looking sales and operating
assumptions are not achieved and are subsequently reduced, or if the company commits to a more extensive store downsizing strategy, additional impairment
charges may result. However, at the end of the third quarter 2012, the impairment analysis reflects the company’s best estimate of future performance, including
the intended future use of the company’s retail store assets.

International Division

During 2011, we acquired an office supply company in Sweden to supplement the existing business in that market. As a result of slowing economic conditions in
Sweden after the acquisition, difficulties in the consolidation of multiple distribution centers and the adoption of new warehousing systems which impacted
customer service and delayed or undermined planned marketing activities, the company re-evaluated remaining balances of acquisition-related intangible assets
of customer relationships and short-lived tradename values. The acquisition-date intangible asset valuation anticipated customer attrition of approximately 11% to
13% per year through 2013. The cash flow analysis consistent with the original valuation of the amortizing intangible assets was updated by accounting and
finance department personnel to reflect the decline experienced in 2012, as well as projected sales declines of 8% in for acquisition-date retail customer
relationships and 2% for acquisition-date contract relationships in 2013 and costs necessary to successfully complete the warehouse integration and re-launch the
marketing initiatives. Cash flows related to these acquired customer relationships with the updated Level 3 inputs were projected to be negative, then recovering,
but were insufficient to recover the intangible assets’ remaining carrying values. Accordingly, an impairment charge of approximately $14 million was recognized
during the third quarter of 2012 and is presented in Asset impairment in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Fair Value Estimates Used for Paid-in-Kind Dividends

The company’s board of directors can elect to pay quarterly dividends on its preferred stock in cash or in-kind. Paid-in-kind dividends are measured at fair value,
using Level 3 inputs. The company uses a Monte Carlo simulation that captures the call, conversion, and interest rate reset features as well the optionality of
paying the dividend in-kind or in cash. The board of directors and company’s management consider then-current and estimated future liquidity factors in making
that quarterly decision. For the third quarter of 2012 valuation, the simulation was based on a beginning stock price of $2.56, stock price volatility of 64.2%, a
risk free rate of 2.8%, and a credit spread of 13.5%. The calculation resulted in a fair value estimate of approximately $7.7 million for the third quarter of 2012. A
stock price volatility of 55% or 75% would have increased the estimate by $0.7 million or decreased the estimate by $0.6 million, respectively. Using a beginning
of period stock price of $1.50 or $3.50 would have decreased the estimate by $1.7 million or increased the estimate by $1.1 million, respectively. Assuming that
all future dividends would be paid in cash would have increased the estimate by $1.3 million. Assuming all future dividends would be paid-in-kind had no
significant impact on the estimate.

Note K – Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activity

As a global supplier of office products and services we are exposed to risks associated with changes in foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices and
interest rates. Our foreign operations are typically, but not exclusively, conducted in the currency of the local environment. We are exposed to the risk of foreign
currency exchange rate changes when we make purchases, sell products, or arrange financings that are denominated in a currency different from the entity’s
functional currency. Depending on the settlement timeframe and other factors, we may enter into foreign currency derivative transactions to mitigate those risks.
We may designate and account for such qualifying arrangements as hedges. Gains and losses on these cash flow hedging transactions are deferred in other
comprehensive income (“OCI”) and recognized in earnings in the same period as the hedged item. Transactions that are not designated as cash flow hedges are
marked to market at each period with changes in value included in earnings. Historically, we have not entered into transactions to hedge our net investment in
foreign operations but may in future periods.
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We also are exposed to the risk of changing fuel prices from inbound and outbound transportation arrangements. The structure of many of these transportation
arrangements, however, precludes applying hedge accounting. In those circumstances, we may enter into derivative transactions to offset the risk of commodity
price changes, and the value of the derivative contract is marked to market at each reporting period with changes recognized in earnings. To the extent fuel
arrangements qualify for hedge accounting, gains and losses are deferred in OCI until such time as the hedged item impacts earnings. At the end of the third
quarter of 2012, the company had a series of monthly option contracts for approximately 2.2 million gallons of fuel through January 2013 that may or may not be
executed. These contracts are not designated as hedging instruments.

Interest rate changes on our obligations may result from external market factors, as well as changes in our credit rating or availability on our asset based credit
facility. We manage our exposure to interest rate risks at the corporate level. Interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities are monitored and assessed for market risk.
Currently, no interest rate related derivative arrangements are in place. OCI includes the deferred gain from a hedge contract terminated in a prior period, net of
the portion that was recognized as a component of the loss on extinguishment of debt during the quarter ended March 31, 2012. This deferral is being amortized
to interest expense through August 2013.

Financial instruments authorized under the company’s established risk management policy include spot trades, swaps, options, caps, collars, forwards and futures.
Use of derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes is expressly prohibited.

The following tables provide information on our hedging and derivative positions and activity.
 
   September 29, 2012    December 31, 2011    September 24, 2011  
(In thousands)

  

Other
Current
Assets    

Other
Current

Liabilities   

Other
Current
Assets    

Other
Current

Liabilities   

Other
Current
Assets    

Other
Current

Liabilities 
Designated cash flow hedges:             

Foreign exchange contracts   $   —     $     376     $     284     $   —     $ 559     $   —   
Non-designated hedging instruments:             

Foreign exchange contracts    67      54      57      92      393      38   
Commodity contracts – fuel    79      —      —      251      725      —   

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $     146     $     430     $     341     $     343     $    1,677     $     38   
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   Third Quarter  

   

Non-Designated
Hedging Instruments    Designated Cash Flow Hedges  

   

Amount of Gain/(Loss)
Recognized in Statement

of Operations(a)(b)    

(Gain)/Loss
Recognized in OCI    

(Gain)/Loss
Reclassified from

OCI
to Statement of
Operations(c)  

(In thousands)   2012    2011    2012    2011    2012    2011  
Foreign exchange contracts     $ (1,936)      $ (220)      $ (369)      $ 581       $ —       $ 95   
Commodity contracts – fuel    740      435      —      —      —      —   

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total     $    (1,196)      $     215       $    (369)      $     581     $     —     $     95   
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

   Year-to-Date  

   

Non-Designated
Hedging Instruments    Designated Cash Flow Hedges  

   

Amount of Gain/(Loss)
Recognized in Statement  of

Operations(a)(b)    

(Gain)/Loss
Recognized in OCI    

(Gain)/Loss
Reclassified  from

OCI
to Statement of
Operations(c)  

(In thousands)   2012    2011    2012    2011    2012    2011  
Foreign exchange contracts     $    (3,099)      $    (2,728)      $    (750)      $    1,346       $    134       $    450   
Commodity contracts – fuel    330      3,431      —      —      —      —   

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total     $ (2,769)      $ 703       $ (750)      $ 1,346       $ 134       $ 450   
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(a) Foreign exchange contracts amounts are included in Miscellaneous income, net
(b) Approximately 60% of the fuel commodity contracts amounts are reflected in Cost of goods sold and occupancy costs. The remaining 40% of the amounts

are reflected in Store and warehouse operating and selling expenses.
(c) Included in Cost of goods sold and occupancy costs

The existing hedge contracts are highly effective and the ineffective portion is considered immaterial. As of September 29, 2012, the foreign exchange contracts
extend through December 2012. Losses currently deferred in OCI are expected to be recognized in earnings within the next twelve months. There were no
hedging arrangements requiring collateral. However, we may be required to provide collateral on certain arrangements in the future. The fair values of our foreign
currency contracts and fuel contracts are the amounts receivable or payable to terminate the agreements at the reporting date, taking into account current exchange
rates. The values are based on market-based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data.
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Note L – Investment in Unconsolidated Joint Venture

Since 1994, we have participated in a joint venture in Mexico, Office Depot de Mexico. Because we participate equally in this business with a partner, we account
for this investment using the equity method. Our proportionate share of Office Depot de Mexico’s net income is presented in Miscellaneous income, net in the
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The following tables provide summarized unaudited information from the balance sheets and statements of income for Office Depot de Mexico:
 

(In thousands)   

September 29,
2012    

December 31,
2011    

September 24,
2011  

Current assets     $  383,856      $  301,789      $  302,491  
Non-current assets    324,543     310,228     283,925  
Current liabilities    248,018     191,008     197,762  
Non-current liabilities    3,329     2,926     2,890  
 
   Third Quarter    Year-to-Date  
(In thousands)   2012    2011    2012    2011  
Sales     $ 316,255      $ 308,128      $ 860,838      $ 851,937  
Gross profit    93,820     87,819     254,343     245,256  
Net income    20,791     17,553     47,141     49,247  

During the second quarter of 2011, we received a $25 million cash dividend from this joint venture. The dividend is included as an operating activity in the
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Note M – Commitments and Contingencies

We are involved in litigation arising in the normal course of our business. While, from time to time, claims are asserted that make demands for a large sum of
money (including, from time to time, actions which are asserted to be maintainable as class action suits), we do not believe that contingent liabilities related to
these matters (including the matters discussed below), either individually or in the aggregate, will materially affect our financial position, results of our operations
or cash flows.

On April 6, 2011, a putative class action lawsuit was filed against the company and certain current and former executive officers alleging violations of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and seeking damages, fees, costs and equitable relief. The allegations made in this lawsuit primarily relate to the company’s
previous financial disclosures and reports regarding the certain tax losses described below. The lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the
Southern District of Florida captioned as Climo v. Office Depot, Inc, Steve Odland, Michael D. Newman and Neil R. Austrian. The Court granted a request by the
Central Laborers’ Pension Fund (“CLPF”) to appoint it as lead plaintiff in the case and the CLPF filed its amended complaint on September 6, 2011. The
company filed a motion to dismiss the Complaint in November 2011. On May 24, 2012, the Court granted Office Depot’s motion to dismiss, allowing the plaintiff
20 days to file a second amended complaint, which it did not do. On July 31, 2012, the Court closed the case because of the plaintiff’s failure to file a second
amended complaint in a timely manner.
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On June 17, 2011, a derivative lawsuit was filed against certain current and former executive officers and the company, generally alleging that the officers
breached their fiduciary duties. The allegations in this lawsuit primarily relate to the company’s previous financial disclosures and reports regarding the certain
tax losses described below. The derivative lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida captioned as Long v. Steve
Odland, Michael D. Newman and Neil R. Austrian, defendants, and Office Depot, Inc., nominal defendant. The Special Litigation Committee (the “SLC”)
appointed by the company’s Board of Directors to review the allegations issued its report on January 9, 2012. As set forth in the report, the SLC determined that
the claims alleged in the Complaint should be dismissed. Accordingly, the company filed a motion to dismiss the Complaint on March 26, 2012. On June 11,
2012 plaintiff filed his opposition brief and filed a motion to strike the exhibits submitted by defendant in support of its motion to dismiss. On July 12, 2012, the
company filed its reply brief and opposition to the motion to strike. On August 15, 2012, the Court granted Office Depot’s motion to dismiss the Complaint.

The allegations made in the above lawsuits primarily relate to the company’s previous financial disclosures and reports regarding certain tax losses. On March 31,
2011, Office Depot announced that the IRS had denied the company’s claim to carry back certain tax losses to prior tax years under economic stimulus-based tax
legislation enacted in 2009. As a result, on April 6, 2011, the company restated its financial results to revise the accounting treatment regarding its original tax
position. The periods covered by the restatement are the fiscal year ended December 25, 2010 and each of the quarters ended June 26, 2010 and September 25,
2010.

In addition, in the ordinary course of business, our sales to and transactions with government customers may be subject to lawsuits, investigations, audits and
review by governmental authorities and regulatory agencies, with which we cooperate. Many of these lawsuits, investigations, audits and reviews are resolved
without material impact to the company. While claims in these matters may at times assert large demands, we do not believe that contingent liabilities related to
these matters, either individually or in the aggregate, will materially affect our financial position, results of our operations or cash flows. In addition to the
foregoing, State of California et. al. ex. rel. David Sherwin v. Office Depot was filed in Superior Court for the State of California, Los Angeles County, and
unsealed on October 19, 2012. This lawsuit relates to allegations regarding certain pricing practices in California under a now expired agreement that was in place
between January 2, 2006 and January 1, 2011, pursuant to which state, local and non-profit agencies purchased office supplies (the “Purchasing Agreement”)
from us. This lawsuit is in the early stages and we are unable to reasonably determine the amount of any potential liability. Office Depot intends to vigorously
defend itself in this lawsuit. Additionally, during the first quarter of 2011, we were notified that the United States Department of Justice (“DOJ”) commenced an
investigation into certain pricing practices related to the Purchasing Agreement. We have cooperated with the DOJ on this matter.

As discussed in Note I, the company has received a proposed tax and penalty assessment from the IRS totaling approximately $126 million. The company
disagrees with this assessment.

Note N – Acquisition

On February 25, 2011, the company acquired all of the shares of Svanströms Gruppen (Frans Svanströms & Co AB), a supplier of office products and services
headquartered in Stockholm, Sweden, to complement the company’s existing business in that region. As part of this all-cash transaction, the company recognized
approximately $46 million of non-deductible goodwill, primarily attributable to anticipated synergies, $20 million of amortizing intangible assets for customer
relationships and proprietary names, as well as net working capital and property and equipment. The amortizing intangible assets had a weighted average life of
6.9 years at the acquisition date. Operations have been included in the International Division results since the date of acquisition. Supplemental pro forma
information as if the entities were combined at earlier periods is not provided based on materiality considerations. As discussed in Note J, the amortizing
intangible assets were impaired in the third quarter of 2012.

Note O – Subsequent Event

On October 24, 2012, the Board of Directors of the company adopted a stockholder rights plan, as set forth in the Rights Agreement dated as of October 24, 2012
(the “Rights Agreement”), between the company and BNY Mellon Shareowner Services, as Rights Agent. Pursuant to the Rights Agreement, the Board of
Directors declared a dividend distribution of one Right (a “Right”) for each outstanding share of company Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share (the
“Common Stock”) to shareholders of record at the
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close of business on November 9, 2012, which date will be the record date, and for each share of Common Stock issued (including shares distributed from
Treasury) by the company thereafter and prior to the Distribution Date (as described below and defined in the Rights Agreement). Each Right entitles the
registered holder, subject to the terms of the Rights Agreement, to purchase from the company one five-thousandth of a share of Series C Junior Participating
Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value per share (the “Preferred Stock”), at a purchase price of $11.50 per one five-thousandth of a share of Preferred Stock, subject to
adjustment.

Initially, no separate Rights Certificates will be distributed and instead the Rights will attach to all certificates representing shares of outstanding Common Stock.
The Rights will separate from the Common Stock on the distribution date (the “Distribution Date”), which will occur on the earlier of (i) ten Business Days
following a public announcement that a person or group of affiliated or associated persons has become an “Acquiring Person,” or (ii) ten Business Days (or such
later date as may be determined by the Board of Directors prior to such time as any person becomes an Acquiring Person) following the commencement of a
tender offer or exchange offer that would result in a person or group of affiliated and associated persons beneficially owning 15% or more of the shares of
Common Stock then outstanding.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

GENERAL

Office Depot, Inc., together with our subsidiaries, is a global supplier of office products and services. We sell to consumers and businesses of all sizes through our
three segments (or “Divisions”): North American Retail Division, North American Business Solutions Division, and International Division. Our North American
Retail Division sells a broad assortment of merchandise through our chain of office supply stores. Our North American Business Solutions Division sells
nationally branded and our own brand office supplies, technology products, furniture and services by means of a dedicated sales force, through catalogs and
electronically through our internet sites. Our International Division sells office products and services outside of the United States through direct mail catalogs,
contract sales forces, internet sites and retail stores, using a mix of company-owned operations, joint ventures, and to a lesser extent, licensing and franchise
agreements, alliances and other arrangements.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) is intended to provide information to assist you in better
understanding and evaluating our financial condition and results of operations. We recommend that you read this MD&A in conjunction with our condensed
consolidated financial statements and the notes to those statements included in Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as well as our 2011 Annual Report
on Form 10-K, filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on February 28, 2012 (the “2011 Form 10-K”).

This MD&A contains significant amounts of forward-looking information. Without limitation, when we use the words “believe,” “estimate,” “plan,” “expect,”
“intend,” “anticipate,” “continue,” “may,” “project,” “probably,” “should,” “could,” “will” and similar expressions in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we are
identifying forward-looking statements (as such term is defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995). Our discussion of Risk Factors, found in
Item 1A of this Form 10-Q and our 2011 Form 10-K, and Forward-Looking Statements, found immediately following the MD&A in our 2011 Form 10-K, apply
to these forward-looking statements.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

A summary of certain factors impacting results for the third quarter of 2012 is provided below. Additional discussion of third quarter and year-to-date results is
provided in the the narrative that follows.
 

•  Sales in the third quarter of 2012 decreased 5% compared to the third quarter of 2011.
 •  Sales in the North American Retail Division decreased 5%; comparable store sales decreased 4%.
 •  Sales in the North American Business Solutions Division increased 1%.
 •  International Division sales decreased 12% in U.S. dollars, and decreased 4% in constant currencies.
•  Total company gross profit margin increased approximately 90 basis points comparing the third quarter of 2012 to the same period of the prior year.
•  Non-cash asset impairment charges of $88 million were recorded in the third quarter of 2012, with $73 million recognized in the North American Retail

Division and $15 million recognized in the International Division. For the nine months ended in September 29, 2012, asset impairment charges totaled
approximately $130 million.

•  Operating expenses, other than the impairment charges above, decreased $29 million from $831 million in the third quarter of 2011 to $802 million in the
third quarter of 2012. These operating expenses include charges for restructuring and business improvement activities of approximately $8 million and $6
million in the third quarter of 2012 and 2011, respectively.

•  The effective tax rate for the third quarter of 2012 reflects the absence of tax benefits in jurisdictions with valuation allowances, such as the U.S., where
much of the asset impairment charges were recognized. During the third quarter of 2011, the company reversed approximately $66 million of uncertain tax
benefit accruals and $32 million of related interest accruals following closure of certain audits and the expiration of the statute of limitations on previously
open tax years.

•  Loss per share was $0.25 for the third quarter of 2012 compared to diluted earnings per share of $0.28 for the same period in 2011.
•  Fiscal year 2012 is a 52-week year, while 2011 was a 53-week year. The fourth quarter of 2012 will include 13 weeks compared to 14 weeks in 2011.
 

23



Table of Contents

IMPAIRMENT CHARGES

The retail office supply industry has encountered significant economic and competitive challenges for the past several years. Not only has there been increasing
competition among the pure office supply companies, but offerings of office supplies by large discount stores, warehouse clubs and e-commerce web sites have
expanded. Additionally, difficult economic conditions have had an adverse impact on sales for items that may be seen by our customers as discretionary. The
company has taken many actions over these years in anticipation or as a result of these factors, including closing underperforming stores and exiting
underperforming markets, consolidating functional areas and distribution centers and adjusting staffing levels accordingly. Significant charges have been
recognized as these actions have been implemented.

In recent periods, the customer environment has changed even further. Customers today have a greater and almost instant array of choices. Competition across our
traditional retail, contract, catalog, and web site channels has blurred. A customer who previously shopped in our retail stores now may go directly to ours or a
competitor’s web site, or continue to visit our retail location but purchase online. This shifting market has made predicting sales by channel difficult. In addition,
in recent periods, we have shifted our strategy to be less promotional on items that provided little to our earnings. We have improved gross margins, but have
experienced de-leveraging of costs from lower sales. One consequence of these shifting competitive factors has been recent asset impairment charges in our North
American Retail Division. In connection with declining sales, we recognized fixed asset impairment charges of $11 million in fiscal 2011, $18 million in the first
quarter and $24 million in the second quarter of 2012. We announced in the second quarter of 2012 that the company was undertaking a full review of our North
American Retail Division real estate strategy. As a result of that analysis, including a downward revision to our forward-looking sales trends partially due to the
factors mentioned above, we recognized an additional asset impairment charge of $73 million in the third quarter of 2012. Additional discussion is provided
below.

With the interest of strengthening our competitive position in Europe, the company acquired during 2011 an office supply company in Sweden to supplement our
existing business in that market. As a result of slowing economic conditions in Sweden after the acquisition, difficulties in the consolidation of multiple
distribution centers and the adoption of new warehousing systems which impacted customer service and delayed or undermined planned marketing activities, the
company re-evaluated remaining balances of acquisition-related intangible assets of customer relationships and short-lived tradename values. Based on this
analysis, which included a decline in projected sales and profitability for this acquired business, we concluded that cash flows would be insufficient to recover the
assets over their expected use period and accordingly, an impairment charge of $14 million was recognized in the third quarter of 2012. After considering relevant
accounting guidance, the composition of assets within the related reporting units, current facts and circumstances, including results of operations, intangible assets
impairment in Europe and other market conditions, we concluded that an accelerated test of goodwill in the European reporting unit, was not required as of
September 29, 2012. Our accounting policy is to test for goodwill impairment during the fourth quarter of each year.

North American Retail Division – Retail Strategy

The company currently operates 1,114 retail stores throughout North America. These stores carry approximately 10,000 stock keeping units, or SKUs, and
operate with approximately 23,300 square feet of space. Comparable store sales in the Division have decreased each of the last 5 years and decreased 6%, 4% and
4%, respectively in the first three quarters of 2012. As consumers have shifted their buying patterns, we have been developing new store formats to satisfy
customer needs and shopping behavior. We now have 17 small-store format locations in operation, ranging in size from approximately 4,800 to 6,700 square feet.
The SKU selections in these stores are the higher-volume items that most customers seek and provide for an expanded services offering. The sales results in these
locations have been promising, and combined with lower operating costs and inventory requirements, have provided returns to the company. We continue to make
modifications to this prototype, and have store formats in the 6,000 to 8,000 square foot range as well as a 15,000 square foot format to address higher-volume
locations.

The changing market trends, our declining sales trends and results of the small-format stores, contributed to the review of the North American Retail Division
retail strategy. Most store locations in the U.S. are accounted for as operating leases with a term at lease inception of a base non-cancellable period, generally ten
years, and one or more renewal options. Approximately 36% of the store leases will be at the optional renewal period within the next three years and 57% within
the next five years. During the real estate strategy analysis, each location in the
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current portfolio was reviewed for a decision to retain as currently configured and located, downsize to either small or mid-size format, relocate, remodel, or close
at the end of the base lease term. Sales trends, profitability, location, market density, and available real estate were all considered.

The result of this analysis is a plan to downsize approximately 245 locations to small-format stores at the end of their current lease term over the next three years
and an additional 150 locations over the following two years. Approximately 70 locations will be down-sized or relocated to the mid-sized format over three
years and another 20 over the following two years. We anticipate closing approximately 60 stores as their base lease period ends. The remaining stores in the
portfolio are anticipated to remain as configured, be remodeled or have base lease periods more than five years in the future. Future market conditions could
impact any of these decisions used in this analysis. This retail strategy includes capital expenditures of approximately $60 million per year for the next five years.

These decisions to modify the store portfolio have impacted our store impairment analysis which is prepared at an individual store level. The cash flow time
horizon for stores expected to be closed, relocated or downsized has been reduced to the base lease period, eliminating renewal option periods from the
calculation, where applicable. Additionally, based on factors noted above, projected sales trends included in the impairment calculation model have been reduced.
The quarterly impairment analyses in recent periods have contemplated short-term negative sales trends, a period of no growth, turning positive in the later years.
However, the actual quarterly results have declined more than what had been forecasted in the model which resulted in asset impairment charges being recognized
each quarter since the third quarter of 2011, even though we continued to lower our projected sales trends over this time. Each period reflected the company’s best
estimate at the time. The current outlook on sales is a decline of 4% in the first year, consistent with our second and third quarter 2012 results. The projected sales
continue to be negative for the second year, but are on an improving trend. This trend reflects our view that sales previously made in our retail locations may be
migrating to our online and other channels, but because those sales are not fulfilled out of the retail store, they are not considered cash flow sources in this
impairment analysis. Gross margin assumptions have been held constant at our current actual levels and we have assumed operating costs consistent with recent
actual results and planned activities. We have lowered our residual value estimate based on the experience from recent closures and estimates from liquidators.
We will continue to work to increase sales and improve profitability, but have not included benefits from initiatives that have not already demonstrated objective
evidence of their potential impact. The resulting asset impairment charge of $73 million has been recorded in the North American Retail Division results for the
third quarter of 2012. Year-to-date 2012 asset impairment charges for the North American Retail Division totaled $115 million.

In addition to the impact of our real estate strategy on asset impairments, certain remaining assets will now be depreciated over a shorter period of time. We
anticipate incremental accelerated depreciation of approximately $2 million in the fourth quarter and $5 million and $2 million in 2013 and 2014, respectively.
Because the strategy is based on taking actions at the end of the location’s lease term, we do not expect significant closed store lease accruals. However, we do
anticipate volatility in results in future periods as certain accounting criteria are met. For example, 14 locations with some level of impairment are facilities under
capital lease. We no longer expect to stay in the location beyond the base lease period but accounting rules limit the reconsideration of the capital lease term in
periods prior to a formal lease modification. This current period impairment charge will be followed by a credit to income in a future period from release of the
accrued lease obligation when the option period is not exercised and the lease is terminated. Additionally, operating leases with scheduled rent increases result in
higher expense and establishment of a deferred rent credit in early years that is reversed in later years, resulting in a straight-line rent expense. To the extent that a
location closes or relocates at the end of the base lease term, this credit will be released to income at that time. Deferred rent credits for renegotiated lease
arrangements with the existing landlord will be amortized over the new lease period.

To the extent that forward-looking sales and operating assumptions in the current portfolio are not achieved and are subsequently reduced, or more stores are
closed, additional impairment charges may result. Of the 360 stores with some level of impairment recognized in the third quarter of 2012, approximately 130
have remaining asset values of approximately $39 million that will be depreciated over their shortened estimated useful lives. These locations are particularly
sensitive to changes in projected cash flows over this period and additional impairment is possible in future periods if results are below projections. It is also
possible that future results may exceed our projections included in the impairment model. For example, we continue to improve our service offerings, customer
service levels and product assortment. We may experience higher sales when new widely-used software becomes available in the fourth quarter of this year.
However, at the end of the third quarter 2012, the impairment analysis reflects the company’s best estimate of future performance, including the intended future
use of the company’s retail stores.
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Discussion of additional factors impacting Division and total company results is presented below.

DIVISION RESULTS

North American Retail Division
 
   Third Quarter    Year-to-Date  
(Dollars in millions)   2012    2011    2012    2011  
Sales   $1,173.7    $1,232.7    $3,387.1    $3,633.4  
% change    (5)%     (4)%     (7)%     (3)%  

Division operating profit (loss)   $ (21.3)    $ 41.9    $ 1.5    $ 102.4  
% of sales    (1.8)%     3.4%     0.0%     2.8%  

Third quarter sales in the North American Retail Division were approximately $1.2 billion, a decrease of 5% compared to the third quarter of 2011. Comparable
store sales in the 1,090 stores that have been open for more than one year and aligned to match the same selling weeks decreased 4% for the third quarter of 2012.
Sales of tablets and e-readers increased in the third quarter of 2012 compared to the same period of the prior year, but sales of computers and related products
were significantly lower, continuing the trend experienced in the first two quarters of 2012. Customers switching from laptop computers to tablets contributed to
lower sales but improved product margins. Fourth quarter 2012 computer sales may be positively impacted by computer and software sales following the release
of an update to widely-used software operating system for personal computers. Sales in our Copy and Print Depot increased. Although sales in the supplies
category were flat, ink and toner sales slightly increased. Furniture sales were lower, as we were less promotional in this area. Average order value was slightly
negative in the third quarter and customer transaction counts declined approximately 4% compared to the same period last year. Total sales for the year-to-date
2012 decreased 7% compared to 2011, reflecting the impacts discussed above, as well as the closure of stores in Canada last year. Also, the quarterly impacts of
shifting comparable selling periods from a 53-week to a 52-week year experienced earlier in 2012 was not a significant factor for the year-to-date period.
However, the fourth quarter of 2012 will be a 13-week period compared to a 14-week period in 2011.

The North American Retail Division reported an operating loss of approximately $21 million in the third quarter of 2012, compared to an operating profit of $42
million for the same period in 2011. Year-to-date operating profit in 2012 was approximately $2 million compared to an operating profit of approximately $102
million in the same period of 2011.

Division operating profit for the third quarter and year-to-date 2012 includes $73 million and $115 million, respectively, of non-cash asset impairment charges
discussed in the Overview section above, as well as approximately $1 million in each of these periods, of restructuring-related severance costs. The year-to-date
2011 included charges of approximately $12 million related to the closure of 10 stores in Canada, primarily related to accrued lease costs, severance and other
closure costs.

Excluding the impairment and restructuring charges in 2012 of $74 million, Division operating profit for the third quarter was $53 million compared to Division
operating profit of $42 million, in the same period of 2011. This increase primarily reflects gross margin improvements, including lower property costs, of
approximately 180 basis points, as well as lower payroll and general and administrative expenses, partially offset by the negative flow through effect of lower
sales. The change in year-to-date operating income of 2012 compared to 2011 reflects the charges of $116 million in 2012 and store closure costs of $12 million
in 2011, as well as the negative flow through effect of lower sales and the 2011 private label credit card benefit partially offset by lower property and payroll costs
and the mix of sales away from lower-margin technology.

At the end of the third quarter of 2012, the North American Retail Division operated 1,114 stores in the U.S. and Puerto Rico. During the third quarter of 2012,
we opened one store and closed four stores.
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North American Business Solutions Division
 
   Third Quarter    Year-to-Date  
(Dollars in millions)   2012    2011    2012    2011  

Sales   $827.4    $820.9    $2,451.5    $2,430.4  
% change    1%     (2)%     1%     (2)%  

Division operating profit   $ 54.8    $ 39.1    $ 137.8    $ 100.4  
% of sales    6.6%     4.8%     5.6%     4.1%  

Third quarter sales in the North American Business Solutions Division were approximately $827 million, a 1% increase compared to the third quarter of 2011.
Matching selling weeks in the two periods, third quarter 2012 and 2011 were flat. Sales in the contract channel more than offset a sales decline in direct channel.
Contract channel sales to small, medium and large accounts increased. Sales to public sector customers declined in both the third quarter and year-to-date period,
reflecting their continued budgetary pressures; however, sales to education-related customers increased in the third quarter of 2012 compared to the same period
in 2011. By category, sales increased in Copy and Print Depot, cleaning and break room supplies and furniture. Sales in the direct channel declined reflecting
lower catalog sales which were partially offset by increased volume and average order value through our e-commerce sites. Sales in the year-to-date 2012
increased 1% compared to the same period in the prior year and the factors discussed for the third quarter are largely the same factors impacting the year-to-date
2012 compared to 2011.

The North American Business Solutions Division reported an operating profit of approximately $55 million in the third quarter of 2012, compared to $39 million
for the same period in 2011. Year-to-date operating profit in 2012 was approximately $138 million compared to $100 million in the same period of 2011.

Division operating profit for the third quarter and year-to-date 2012 includes $2 million and $3 million, respectively, of reorganization-related severance costs.

The increase in operating profit for both the third quarter and year-to-date periods reflect gross margin increases of approximately 110 basis points, as well as
lower supply chain costs and reduced professional fees partially offset by higher advertising expenses. The year-to-date 2012 comparison to 2011 also reflects
approximately $10 million of benefits in 2011 that were identified as not likely to recur and a legal accrual in the second quarter of 2012.
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International Division
 
   Third Quarter    Year-to-Date  
(Dollars in millions)   2012    2011    2012    2011  

Sales   $ 691.9    $783.2    $2,234.3    $2,456.0  
% change    (12)%     1%     (9)%     —%  
% change in constant currency    (4)%     (7)%     (3)%     (6)%  

Division operating profit   $ 1.0    $ 19.5    $ 26.0    $ 59.9  
% of sales    0.1%     2.5%     1.2%     2.4%  

The International Division reported third quarter 2012 sales of approximately $692 million, reflecting a decrease of 12% in U.S. dollars and a decrease of 4% in
constant currencies compared to the third quarter of 2011. The European contract channel sales in constant currency decreased 2% overall with growth in
Germany and flat sales in the U.K. being more than offset by lower sales in other countries. Contract channel sales in Asia increased compared to the prior year.
Third quarter and year-to-date 2012 sales in the direct channel were lower across the Division. This negative trend in direct sales continues to be an area of focus
for the company with additional resources allocated to efforts to acquire and retain customers. The retail channel sales decreased in Sweden and were flat in
France. Year-to-date 2012 sales decreased 9% in U.S. dollars and 3% in constant currencies. Sales in the contract channel increased 1%, while sales in the direct
channel continue to reflect the downward trend.

The International Division reported an operating profit of approximately $1 million in the third quarter of 2012, compared to an operating profit of $20 million for
the same period in 2011. Year-to-date operating profit in 2012 was approximately $26 million compared to $60 million in the same period of 2011.

Division operating profit for the third quarter of 2012 includes $15 million of non-cash asset impairment charges discussed in the Overview section above and $4
million of reorganization and process improvement charges. The third quarter 2011 results also include approximately $4 million of reorganization and process
improvement charges. Year-to-date 2012 Division operating profit includes the $15 million asset impairment charges recognized in the third quarter, an $11
million first quarter accrual related to a closed facility, as well as approximately $14 million of restructuring-related charges. Year-to-date 2011 Division operating
profit included approximately $15 million of restructuring and process improvement charges.

After considering these charges, Division operating profit in the third quarter and year-to-date 2012 compared to 2011 decreased from the flow through of lower
sales, partially offset by a decrease in operating expenses from prior process improvement actions, as well as lower advertising and payroll expenses. Additional
restructuring-related charges are likely in future periods as we continue to streamline the operations and look to optimize our international portfolio.

CORPORATE AND OTHER

Recovery of Purchase Price

The sale and purchase agreement (“SPA”) associated with a 2003 European acquisition included a provision whereby the seller was required to pay an amount to
the company if a specified acquired pension plan was calculated to be underfunded based on 2008 plan data. The amount calculated by the plan’s actuary was
disputed by the seller but upheld by an independent arbitrator. The seller continued to dispute the award until both parties reached a settlement agreement in
January 2012 and the seller paid approximately GBP 37.7 million to the company, including GBP 5.5 million placed in escrow in 2011. Under the terms of the
SPA, and in agreement with the pension plan trustees, the company contributed the cash received, net of certain fees, to the pension plan. This contribution caused
the plan to go from a net liability position at the end of 2011 to a net asset position of approximately $10.1 million at September 29, 2012. Because the goodwill
associated with this transaction was fully impaired in 2008, this recovery is recognized in the 2012 statement of operations. Also, consistent with the presentation
in 2008, this recovery is reported at the corporate level and not included in the determination of International Division operating profit.
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The $68.3 million Recovery of purchase price includes recognition of the cash received from the seller, certain fees incurred and reimbursed, as well as the
release of an accrued liability as the settlement agreement releases any and all claims under the SPA. An additional expense of approximately $5.2 million related
to this arrangement is included in General and administrative expenses, resulting in a net increase in operating profit for the year-to-date 2012 of $63.1 million.
The transaction is treated as a non-taxable return of purchase price for tax purposes.

The cash payment from the seller was received by a subsidiary of the company with the Euro as its functional currency and the pension plan funding was made by
a subsidiary with Pound Sterling as its functional currency, resulting in certain translation differences between amounts reflected in the Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Operations and the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the year-to-date 2012. The receipt of cash from the seller is presented as
a source of cash in investing activities. The contribution of cash to the pension plan is presented as a use of cash in operating activities. See Note C of the Notes to
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

General and Administrative Expenses

The portion of General and Administrative (“G&A”) expenses considered directly or closely related to unit activity is included in the measurement of Division
operating profit. Other companies may charge more or less G&A expenses and other costs to their segments, and our results therefore may not be comparable to
similarly titled measures used by other entities. Our measure of Division operating profit should not be considered as an alternative to operating income or net
earnings determined in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Total G&A increased from $163 million in the third quarter of 2011 to $165 million in the third quarter of 2012. A breakdown of total G&A between the portion
included in Division results and the portion considered corporate expenses is provided in the following table:
 
   Third Quarter    Year-to-Date  
(In millions)   2012    2011    2012    2011  

Division G&A     $ 78.9      $ 86.0      $247.6      $262.7  
Corporate G&A    86.2     77.3     262.7     229.9  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total G&A     $165.1      $163.3      $510.3      $492.6  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Total G&A includes charges related to restructuring activities and actions to improve future operating performance of approximately $6 million and $29 million
in the third quarter and year-to-date 2012, respectively. Similar charges of $5 million and $17 million were recognized during the third quarter and the year-to-
date 2011. Of these amounts, approximately $1 million and $16 million for the third quarter and year-to-date 2012, respectively, and approximately $3 and $7
million for the third quarter and year-to-date 2011, respectively were included in Corporate G&A; the remainder was included in determination of Division
operating profit discussed above. After considering the charges, the comparative increase in Corporate G&A primarily relates to additional project costs and
personnel intended to improve performance in future periods. All periods include accrued variable pay at lower than target amounts.

Corporate expenses included in store and warehouse operating and selling expenses for the third quarter and year-to-date 2012 were approximately $4 million and
$7 million, respectively, compared to approximately $4 million and $11 million in the same periods last year. The activity primarily relates to accretion,
adjustments and settlements of lease obligations from facilities closed in prior years following our strategic review. The lease accretion is expected to total $2
million for the remainder of 2012, but net corporate amounts may be impacted by gains, losses and adjustments related to the closed properties and leases that
cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.
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Other Income (Expense)

Third quarter and year-to-date interest expense for 2011 reflects $32 million reversal of accrued interest related to settlement of uncertain tax positions. After
considering this amount, interest expense for 2012 compared to 2011 increased from the higher interest rate on debt refinanced in the first quarter of 2012. This
was partially offset in the year-to-date 2012 comparison to the same periods of 2011 from the expensing of approximately $3 million of deferred debt issue costs
in 2011 following a change in the lending group for our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the “Amended Credit Agreement”).

On March 15, 2012, the company completed the early settlement of its previously announced cash tender offer to purchase up to $250 million aggregate principal
amount of its outstanding 6.25% senior notes due 2013. The total consideration for each $1,000.00 note surrendered was $1,050.00. Additionally, tender fees and
a proportionate amount of deferred debt issue costs and a deferred cash flow hedge gain were included in the measurement of the $12.1 million extinguishment
costs reported in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations for the first quarter of 2012.

Miscellaneous income, net for all periods presented is primarily attributable to earnings from our joint venture, Office Depot de Mexico. The company accounts
for this joint venture on the equity method and summarized financial information is included in Note L of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements. Joint venture sales for the third quarter of 2012 increased 3% in U.S. dollars and increased 10% in constant currency. Joint venture sales for the year-
to-date 2012 increased 1% in U.S. dollars and increased 11% in constant currencies. The joint venture opened one store during the third quarter and opened 12
stores in Mexico, Panama and Guatemala in the year-to-date 2012. Third quarter 2012 and 2011 net income was approximately $21 million and $18 million,
respectively, with 50% of those amounts included in our Miscellaneous income, net. Our 50% of joint venture earnings for the year-to-date 2012 was
approximately $24 million compared to approximately $25 million in the same period of 2011. In addition to results from Office Depot de Mexico, and results
from another equity method investment, Miscellaneous income, net includes gains and losses on our deferred compensation plan and foreign currency
transactions.

Income Taxes

The effective tax rate for the third quarter and year-to-date 2012 was -6% and 0%, respectively, compared to -139% and -228%, respectively, for the same periods
of 2011. The effective tax rate for the third quarter of 2012 reflects the absence of tax benefits in jurisdictions with valuation allowances, such as the U.S., where
much of the asset impairment charges were recognized. The year-to-date 2012 rate includes a $16 million accrued benefit based on a ruling from the U.S. Internal
Revenue Service (“IRS”) allowing the company to carryback certain accounting method changes to the 2009 tax year. Receipt of cash related to this ruling is not
expected prior to resolution of the previously-disclosed dispute with the IRS relating to a foreign royalty assessment as discussed below. The year-to-date 2012
effective tax rate also includes this benefit and is impacted by the Recovery of purchase price that is treated as a purchase price adjustment for tax purposes. As
discussed in Note C, this recovery would have been a reduction of related goodwill for financial reporting purposes, but the related goodwill was impaired in
2008. Additionally, the loss on extinguishment of debt in the United States during the quarter ended March 31, 2012 did not generate financial statement tax
benefits because of existing valuation allowances. Similarly, operating losses in other jurisdictions with valuation allowances do not result in deferred tax benefits
being recognized in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations. Accordingly, tax expense recognized in jurisdictions with positive earnings, and no
tax benefit on certain jurisdictions with losses, can cause the effective rate to be different from blended statutory rates. This interim accounting is likely to result
in significant variability of the effective tax rate throughout the course of the year. Changes in income projections and the mix of income across jurisdictions
could impact the effective tax rate each quarter.

The 2011 effective tax rates include the reversal of $66 million of uncertain tax accruals (“UTPs”) following closure of certain tax audits and the expiration of the
statute of limitations on previously open tax years. The aggregate settlement of UTPs in the third quarter of 2011 resulted in a reversal of previously accrued
interest expense of $32 million in 2011. Our accounting policy is to include accrued interest on UTPs, and any related reversals, as a component of interest
expense in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations. The reversal in 2011 resulted in interest expense for the third quarter of 2011 being negative.
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We file a U.S. federal income tax return and other income tax returns in various states and foreign jurisdictions. With few exceptions, we are no longer subject to
U.S. federal, state and local income tax examinations for years before 2009. Our U.S. federal filings for 2009, 2010 and 2011 are under routine examination, and
it is reasonably possible that audits for some of these periods will be closed prior to the end of 2012. Significant international tax jurisdictions include the UK, the
Netherlands, France and Germany. Generally, we are subject to routine examination for years 2006 and forward in these jurisdictions. It is reasonably possible
that certain of these audits will close within the next 12 months, which could result in a decrease of as much as $2.1 million or an increase of as much as $1.0
million to our accrued uncertain tax positions. Additionally, we anticipate that it is reasonably possible that new issues will be raised or resolved by tax authorities
that may require changes to the balance of unrecognized tax benefits, however, an estimate of such changes cannot reasonably be made.

As part of the ongoing 2009 and 2010 audits, the IRS has proposed a deemed royalty assessment from our foreign operations with a tax and penalty amount of
approximately $126 million. The company disagrees with this assessment and, based on the technical merits of this issue, believes that no accrual is required at
this time. The company is working with its outside tax advisors and the IRS to resolve this dispute in a timely manner. To the extent the IRS prevails on this issue,
the income statement impact may be lowered because of available net operating losses and other deferred tax assets.

New Accounting Pronouncements

There are no recently issued accounting standards that are expected to have a material effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

At September 29, 2012, we had approximately $620 million in cash and equivalents and another $700 million available under the Amended Credit Agreement
based on the September borrowing base certificate, for a total liquidity of approximately $1.3 billion. Additionally, the company had approximately $50 million
available under an accounts receivable factoring agreement in Europe. The agreement has been activated in the fourth quarter of 2012. We currently believe that
available funds and cash flows generated from operations will be sufficient to fund our working capital, capital expenditure and debt repayment requirements for
at least the next twelve months.

At September 29, 2012, no amounts were drawn under the Amended Credit Agreement. There were no amounts outstanding during the third quarter of 2012 at
any month end. There were letters of credit outstanding under the Amended Credit Agreement at the end of the quarter totaling approximately $95 million. An
additional $0.2 million of letters of credit were outstanding under separate agreements.

We also had short-term borrowings of $15 million at September 29, 2012 under various local currency credit facilities for our international subsidiaries that had
an effective interest rate at the end of the third quarter of approximately 1.9%. The maximum month end amount and maximum monthly average amount
occurred in July and August at approximately $16 million, respectively. The majority of these short-term borrowings represent outstanding balances on
uncommitted lines of credit, which do not contain financial covenants.

The $150 million of 6.25% senior notes due August 2013 is classified as a current liability in the third quarter of 2012.

The company was in compliance with all applicable financial covenants at September 29, 2012.

Dividends on the company’s redeemable preferred stock are payable quarterly, and will be paid in-kind or in cash, only to the extent that the company has funds
legally available for such payment and a cash dividend is declared by the company’s board of directors. Dividends during 2012 have been paid in-kind. The
company anticipates paying dividends in-kind for the remainder of 2012 and possibly 2013.

During the year-to-date 2012, cash provided by operating activities was approximately $84 million, compared to approximately $20 million during the same
period last year. During the 2012 period, the company recognized a credit in earnings as the recovery from a business combination. The cash portion of this
recovery is reclassified
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out of earnings and reflected as a source of cash in investing activities. That cash was required by the original purchase agreement to be contributed to the
acquired pension plan. That pension funding of $58 million during the first quarter of 2012 is presented as a use of cash in operating activities.

The company recorded non-cash asset impairment charges in the North America Retail Division and International Division of approximately $130 million, as
discussed above. Also, during the third quarter of 2011, the company reversed accruals of $66 million of uncertain tax positions and $32 million of related
accrued interest expense. Neither the 2012 charges nor the 2011 accrual reversals impacted cash flows for the respective periods.

Changes in net working capital and other components for the year-to-date 2012 resulted in a $73 million use of cash compared to a $261 million use in the same
period last year. This 2011 caption includes the $66 million and $32 million non-cash accrual reversals, resulting in working capital and other change of $163
million on a basis comparable to 2012. This decrease in working capital and other in 2012 compared to 2011 reflects a greater decrease in accounts payable,
accrued expenses and accrued liabilities in 2011, partially offset by a greater decrease in receivables in 2011 and a $25 million dividend received from our joint
venture in Mexico, Office Depot de Mexico, in the third quarter of 2011. No dividends were received in 2012. Working capital is influenced by a number of
factors including the flow of goods, credit terms, timing of promotions, vendor production planning, new product introductions and working capital management.
For our accounting policy on cash management, see Note A of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Cash provided by investing activities was approximately $1 million in the year-to-date 2012, compared to a use of cash of approximately $107 million in the
same period last year. The source of cash for the 2012 period reflects the Recovery of purchase price of $50 million discussed above, release of restricted cash
associated with the same business combination of $9 million, and proceeds from assets sold of $31 million. Capital expenditures were $89 million in the year-to-
date 2012. Cash used by investing activities in the year-to-date 2011 reflects capital expenditures of approximately $89 million and approximately $73 million to
complete the acquisition of an entity in Sweden, partially offset by the release of restricted cash related to the Sweden acquisition that was held in escrow at
December 25, 2010. During the year-to-date 2011, we received approximately $8 million of proceeds from the disposition of assets.

Cash used in financing activities was approximately $39 million for the year-to-date 2012, compared to a use of cash of $97 million in the same period last year.
During the year-to-date 2012, the company completed the early settlement of its previously announced cash tender offer to purchase up to $250 million aggregate
principal amount of its outstanding 6.25% senior notes due 2013. The company also issued $250 million aggregate principal amount of 9.75% senior secured
notes due March 15, 2019. The tender activity resulted in a $13 million cash loss on extinguishment of debt. Additionally, new issuance costs and costs related to
the Amended Credit Agreement totaled $8 million. Net payments on other long and short-term borrowings for the period amounted to $18 million. The dividends
on preferred stock were paid in kind during the year-to-date 2012. The use of cash from financing activities during the year-to-date 2011 of $97 million resulted
primarily from payment of approximately $28 million cash dividends on our preferred stock, net payments of approximately $59 million on short-term and long-
term borrowings as well as an additional $10 million in fees related to the Amended Credit Agreement.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Our condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. Preparation of these statements requires management to make judgments and estimates. Some accounting policies have a significant impact on amounts
reported in these financial statements. A summary of significant accounting policies and a description of accounting policies that are considered critical may be
found in our 2011 Form 10-K in Note A of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Critical Accounting Policies section of the Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Interest Rate Risks

At September 29, 2012, there had not been a material change in the interest rate risk information disclosed in the “Market Sensitive Risks and Positions”
subsection of the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations set forth in Item 7 of our 2011 Form 10-K.

Foreign Exchange Rate Risks

At September 29, 2012, there had not been a material change in any of the foreign exchange risk information disclosed in the “Market Sensitive Risks and
Positions” subsection of the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations set forth in Item 7 of our 2011 Form 10-K.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

We maintain controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the
SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be
in this report is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated,
can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the possible controls and
procedures. Each reporting period, the company carries out an evaluation, with the participation of its Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), and Chief Financial
Officer (“CFO”), of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Act”).

Based on management’s evaluation, as of September 29, 2012, the company’s CEO and CFO concluded that the company’s disclosure controls and procedures
were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by the company in reports that the company files or submits under the
Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to the company’s management, including the CEO and CFO, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the company’s most recent fiscal quarter that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

We are involved in litigation arising in the normal course of our business. While, from time to time, claims are asserted that make demands for a large sum of
money (including, from time to time, actions which are asserted to be maintainable as class action suits), we do not believe that contingent liabilities related to
these matters (including the matters discussed below), either individually or in the aggregate, will materially affect our financial position, results of our operations
or cash flows.

On April 6, 2011, a putative class action lawsuit was filed against the company and certain current and former executive officers alleging violations of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and seeking damages, fees, costs and equitable relief. The allegations made in this lawsuit primarily relate to the company’s
previous financial disclosures and reports regarding the certain tax losses described below. The lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the
Southern District of Florida captioned as Climo v. Office Depot, Inc, Steve Odland, Michael D. Newman and Neil R. Austrian. The Court granted a request by the
Central Laborers’ Pension Fund (“CLPF”) to appoint it as lead plaintiff in the case and the CLPF filed its amended complaint on September 6, 2011. The
company filed a motion to dismiss the Complaint in November 2011. On May 24, 2012, the Court granted Office Depot’s motion to dismiss, allowing the plaintiff
20 days to file a second amended complaint, which it did not do. On July 31, 2012, the Court closed the case because of the plaintiff’s failure to file a second
amended complaint in a timely manner.

On June 17, 2011, a derivative lawsuit was filed against certain current and former executive officers and the company, generally alleging that the officers
breached their fiduciary duties. The allegations in this lawsuit primarily relate to the company’s previous financial disclosures and reports regarding the certain
tax losses described below. The derivative lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida captioned as Long v. Steve
Odland, Michael D. Newman and Neil R. Austrian, defendants, and Office Depot, Inc., nominal defendant. The Special Litigation Committee (the “SLC”)
appointed by the company’s Board of Directors to review the allegations issued its report on January 9, 2012. As set forth in the report, the SLC determined that
the claims alleged in the Complaint should be dismissed. Accordingly, the company filed a motion to dismiss the Complaint on March 26, 2012. On June 11,
2012 plaintiff filed his opposition brief and filed a motion to strike the exhibits submitted by defendant in support of its motion to dismiss. On July 12, 2012, the
company filed its reply brief and opposition to the motion to strike. On August 15, 2012, the Court granted Office Depot’s motion to dismiss the Complaint.

The allegations made in the above lawsuits primarily relate to the company’s previous financial disclosures and reports regarding certain tax losses. On March 31,
2011, Office Depot announced that the IRS had denied the company’s claim to carry back certain tax losses to prior tax years under economic stimulus-based tax
legislation enacted in 2009. As a result, on April 6, 2011, the company restated its financial results to revise the accounting treatment regarding its original tax
position. The periods covered by the restatement are the fiscal year ended December 25, 2010 and each of the quarters ended June 26, 2010 and September 25,
2010.

In addition, in the ordinary course of business, our sales to and transactions with government customers may be subject to lawsuits, investigations, audits and
review by governmental authorities and regulatory agencies, with which we cooperate. Many of these lawsuits, investigations, audits and reviews are resolved
without material impact to the company. While claims in these matters may at times assert large demands, we do not believe that contingent liabilities related to
these matters, either individually or in the aggregate, will materially affect our financial position, results of our operations or cash flows. In addition to the
foregoing, State of California et. al. ex. rel. David Sherwin v. Office Depot was filed in Superior Court for the State of California, Los Angeles County, and
unsealed on October 19, 2012. This lawsuit relates to allegations regarding certain pricing practices in California under a now expired agreement that was in place
between January 2, 2006 and January 1, 2011, pursuant to which state, local and non-profit agencies purchased office supplies (the “Purchasing Agreement”)
from us. This lawsuit is in the early stages and we are unable to reasonably determine the amount of any potential liability. Office Depot intends to vigorously
defend itself in this lawsuit. Additionally, during the first quarter of 2011, we were notified that the United States Department of Justice (“DOJ”) commenced an
investigation into certain pricing practices related to the Purchasing Agreement. We have cooperated with the DOJ on this matter.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Except for the additional risk factors set forth below, there have been no material changes in our risk factors from those previously disclosed in our 2011 Form 10-
K.

We have incurred significant impairment charges and we continue to incur significant impairment charges.

During the three quarters of 2012, we recognized non-cash asset impairment charges in our North America Retail Division of approximately $18 million, $24
million and $73 million, respectively. These charges reflect greater than anticipated downturns in sales at certain lower performing stores. We recognized store
asset impairment charges in the North American Retail Division of $11 million during 2011. The company assesses past performance and makes estimates and
projections of future performance quarterly at an individual store level. Reduced sales, our shift in strategy to be less promotional, as well as competitive factors
and changes in consumer spending habits resulted in a downward adjustment of anticipated future cash flows for the individual stores that resulted in the
impairment. We foresee challenges in the market and economy that could adversely impact our operations. To the extent that forward-looking sales and operating
assumptions are not achieved and are subsequently reduced, or if the company commits to a more aggressive store downsizing strategy, including allocating
capital to further modify store formats, additional impairment charges may result. Additionally, the company has approximately $64 million of goodwill at
September 29, 2012, with $45 million in the International Division. We measure goodwill for impairment annually in the fourth quarter or earlier if indicators of
possible impairment are identified. Changes in the numerous variables associated with the judgments, assumptions and estimates made by the company in
assessing the appropriate valuation of our goodwill, including changes resulting from macroeconomic challenges in international markets, could in the future
require the company to reduce our goodwill and record related non-cash impairment charges. If we were required to further impair our store assets or our
goodwill, it could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Provisions in our stockholder rights plan may make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us.

We have adopted a stockholder rights plan that could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire, or could discourage a third party from acquiring, our
company or a large block of our common stock. A third party that acquires 15% or more of our common stock could suffer substantial dilution of its ownership
interest under the terms of the stockholder rights plan through the issuance of common stock or common stock equivalents to all stockholders other than the
acquiring person.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

The company’s Amended Credit Agreement allows payment of cash dividends on preferred stock and share repurchases, in an aggregate amount of $75 million
per fiscal year subject to the satisfaction of certain liquidity requirements. Also, so long as investors in the redeemable preferred stock own at least 10% of the
common stock voting rights, on an as-converted basis, the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of preferred stock then outstanding and entitled to vote is
required for the declaration or payment of a dividend on common stock. Additionally, pursuant to an indenture, dated as of March 14, 2012, among the company,
the guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, the company is limited in its ability to pay dividends. The company has never
declared or paid cash dividends on its common stock.
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Item 6. Exhibits.

Exhibits
 

31.1   Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of CEO
31.2   Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of CFO
32   Section 1350 Certification
(101.INS)   XBRL Instance Document
(101.SCH)   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
(101.CAL)   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
(101.DEF)   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
(101.LAB)   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
(101.PRE)   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
 

    

OFFICE DEPOT, INC.
        (Registrant)   

Date: November 6, 2012     By: /s/ Neil R. Austrian   
    Neil R. Austrian   

    

Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman, Board of Directors   

    (Principal Executive Officer)   

Date: November 6, 2012     By: /s/ Michael D. Newman   
    Michael D. Newman   
    Executive Vice President and   
    Chief Financial Officer   
    (Principal Financial Officer)   

Date: November 6, 2012     By: /s/ Kim Moehler   
    Kim Moehler   

    

Senior Vice President
and Controller   

    (Principal Accounting Officer)   
 

37



Exhibit 31.1

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification

I, Neil R. Austrian, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Office Depot, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

 
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably

likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.

Date: November 6, 2012
 
/s/ Neil R. Austrian
Neil R. Austrian
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, Board
of Directors
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Exhibit 31.2

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification

I, Michael D. Newman, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Office Depot, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

 
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably

likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.

Date: November 6, 2012
 
/s/ Michael D. Newman
Michael D. Newman
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32

Office Depot, Inc.

Certification of CEO and CFO Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Office Depot, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarterly period ended September 29, 2012 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Neil R. Austrian, as Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Michael D. Newman,
as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that, to each officer’s knowledge:
 
 (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

 
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the

Company.
 
/s/ Neil R. Austrian
Name:  Neil R. Austrian
Title:  Chief Executive Officer
Date:  November 6, 2012

/s/ Michael D. Newman
Name:  Michael D. Newman
Title:  Chief Financial Officer
Date:  November 6, 2012

The foregoing certification is being furnished as an exhibit to the Report pursuant to Item 601(b)(32) of Regulation S-K and Section 1350 of Title 18 of the
United States Code and, accordingly, is not being filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission as part of the Report and is not to be incorporated by
reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (whether made before or after the date of the
Report, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing).
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